FILED 04-23-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

No. 2023AP874

## STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

# JOAN L. STETZER,

Defendant-Appellant.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRADLEY W. NOVRESKE State Bar No. 1106967

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## KUCHLER & COTTON, S.C.

1535 E. Racine Ave. Waukesha, WI 53186

T: (262) 542-4218 F: (262) 542-1993

brad@kuchlercotton.com

#

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1) Does Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1) permit a trial court to artificially and temporally subdivide a single "act" that is entitled to the privilege at its inception and determine whether each subdivided portion of the single "act" would be entitled to the privilege if viewed in isolation before the coercion defense will be applied?

The Court of Appeals answered: Yes.

2) If the answer to the above question is yes, do such limitations on the statutory coercion defense violate Marcy's Law by forcing victims of intimate violence facing a risk of death or great bodily harm to choose between remaining in that dangerous circumstance or risking criminal conviction if a court reviewing the victim's means of escape after the fact concludes that the defense, even if applicable at the inception of the act, would not apply to a temporal subsection of the single "act"?

The Court of Appeals did not address this issue.

3) Did the trial court fail to apply the correct legal standard by failing to consider the reasonableness of Joan's decision not to stop and report her husband's assault to the police from the perspective of a reasonable person with Joan's particular characteristics and personal history?

The Court of Appeals answered: No.

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 5 of 27

#### BRIEF STATEMENT OF CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

- 1. Section 809.62(1r)(c): A decision by this Court will help develop and harmonize the law surrounding the treatment of victims of intimate violence who must violate the law to escape death or great bodily harm, and the extent to which courts should dissect the actions and alternatives available to the victim in a hyper-technical manner which inevitably results in victims who acted under coercion losing the privilege in situations where public policy should strongly encourage victims to leave dangerous situations.
- 2. Section 809.62(1r)(d): The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is at odds with recent significant development in the treatment of victims by our criminal justice system. The narrow, artificially curtailed, and scrutinizing framework employed by the trial court and Court of Appeals is reminiscent of the historical distrust and skepticism of women victims of intimate or sexual violence. Unlike recent cases which have recognized the pervasive threats and attendant social harms of intimate violence and have emphasized the extent to which the law has evolved to address those threats, this case highlights the significant shortcomings that still exist in our laws and institutions. Our courts are failing to validate the experiences of women who have (and in many cases continue to) experienced intimate violence and failing to ensure that the mechanisms of our legal system protect these victims— not only from their abusers, but from antiquated laws that seek to punish these victims for making the "wrong" choice in how they escape the threat of death or great bodily harm.

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 6 of 27

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Petition, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 808.10 and Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62, seeks review of the decision and order of the Court of Appeals District II, in *State of Wisconsin v. Joan L. Stetzer*, case 2023AP874, filed on March 27, 2024.

## I. Factual Background.

The evening of May 24, 2017 started out as a calm, normal night for Dr. Joan Stetzer. That evening, Joan was at her home in Pewaukee with her husband, Bill. (R. 57, 9:18-23). She was busy in the kitchen preparing dinner. While she was grilling, Joan had a few glasses of wine, and then another at dinner. She was not planning to drive anywhere that evening and had no plans to go out after dinner. (R. 57, 52:10-53:1). At some point after dinner, an argument erupted between Joan and Bill over the multitude of marital affairs that Bill had been involved in. Bill began yelling at Joan, telling her that it was her fault that she can't move on from his affairs. (R. 57, 48:16-49:25).

Bill became irate and pushed Joan as she tried to walk away from him. He then grabbed her arm, pulled her close and got in her face and said "look, you got to move on, you know, this is your fault that you can't move on." Joan did not respond physically, but told Bill that he could not treat her that way. (R. 57, 50:1-22). Bill continued to berate her, calling her a cunt, a bitch, nuts, crazy, and stupid. Eventually, Bill said "I'm getting the hell out of here," left the house, slammed the door, got into his vehicle, and took off. Joan was very upset at this point. (R. 57, 51:25-52:9). Around 9:30 in the evening. Joan texted Bill something to the effect of "your clothes are outside on the patio, come pick them up and get out." She then went to sleep. (R. 57, 55:13-56:3).

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 7 of 27

Shortly thereafter, Joan was startled out of sleep by the sound of the door slamming. Immediately upon returning, Bill "went berserk;" he "came in guns blazing." Bill began yelling and screaming and swearing and yelling at her "Get the fuck out of bed, go pick up my clothes, and you get the hell out of here!" Joan got up from the bed when Bill started screaming and went to the music room next to the kitchen. She told him that she was not going to pick up his clothes, that she texted him to come pick up his stuff and get out. In response, Bill started swearing at her and yelling for her to go pick up his clothes or "I'm going to take you out if you don't do it," something he said repeatedly to her that night. (R. 57, 56:1-58:10). Joan refused. Bill, furious, began pacing around the first floor of the house. He shoved Joan a few times in the shoulder towards the door to the back patio where his clothes were. She still refused to pick up the clothes. Bill then went down into the basement. When he returned several minutes later, Joan was standing a few feet from the basement stairway in the kitchen doorway. (R. 57, 58:18-59:6).

When Bill reached the top of the stairs, he said "Get the fuck out of my way" and walked towards the front door. Joan responded, "Look, I'm not picking up your clothes, you know, pick them up and leave or they can stay there 'til tomorrow morning, but I'm not going to go out there and get them." In response, Bill turned and moved towards her, put his left fist into his hand to create a 90-degree angle with his right arm, and body-checked Joan with his right elbow, knocking her down the basement stairs. Joan tumbled down the stairs and landed hard, hitting her head on the spindles of the railing and hurting her left shoulder, left side of her chest, her neck, and her hip. (R. 57, 59:3-60:15). Joan laid at the bottom of the stairs for a minute. She was hurting badly enough that

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 8 of 27

she "really didn't even want to get up." But she told herself "I can't lay here." All the while, Bill was screaming from the kitchen at the top of the stairs "Get up, you're going to pick up my fucking clothes!" With Bill still irate and screaming at her, Joan got up and walked up the stairs, hurting badly from the fall. (R. 57, 60:23-61:22).

Once in the kitchen, Joan poured and drank two large glasses of wine—"it was either that or go to the emergency room, and [she] didn't want to go to the emergency room because [she] was embarrassed and humiliated." (R. 57, 61:23-62:1). She said to Bill "I'm really hurting," to which he responded "I don't give a fuck." Bill had his phone in his hand, but would not tell Joan who he was calling—he told her "Maybe I'll call the police on you." That didn't make sense to Joan. While Bill continued to yell, scream, and shove her, Joan told him "Look, I'm going to leave. I am just going to get out of here." She was worried that the physical violence would "escalate even further than going down a flight of stairs." (R. 57, 62:2-22).

Joan, still in her pajamas, walked down the hallway towards the garage. She had no shoes on, no phone, no driver's license, nothing but her pajama t-shirt and capris. She went into the garage then opened the garage door, went outside, closed the garage door behind her, and stood there in the rain thinking to herself, "I can't leave." (R. 57, 63:1-5). Joan didn't know what Bill was doing inside. She thought "I have got to go back in," because "it was just bad all the way around." She turned and went back into the garage and into the house. Bill was in the kitchen and had just hung up the phone. When Bill saw her, he said "What the hell are you doing here, get the hell out." Joan responded, "This doesn't make any sense." Bill said "No, you get the hell out." He started running at

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 9 of 27

Joan with his fist closed and a look that she had never seen on his face other than that moment. As he passed the hanging pot and pan rack in the kitchen, Bill grabbed a heavy pot and continued chasing Joan. She turned, ran out into the garage, and hit the button to open the garage door. Bill threw the heavy pot at her, which barely missed her head. (R. 57, 65:12-24; 68:7-8).

Joan ducked under the half-open garage door and ran around the truck twice while Bill was chasing her. Worried that he was about to catch her, she got in the truck parked in the driveway facing out towards the street and locked the doors. The keys were in the sun visor, so she started the truck. Bill was pounding on the window, yelling "I'm going to take you out, you fucking bitch." She was afraid that he was going to break the glass. (R. 57, 66:1-20; 67:18-19). His anger was only getting worse as Bill continued pounding on the window. Just trying to escape, Joan pulled out of the driveway and turned left. (R. 57, 68:16-69:1). At first, she didn't even know where she was going, she just knew she had to escape. (R. 57, 68:15-18). Joan felt that she had no other alternative but to "get the hell out of there." She then decided she would go to their vacant lake house, where she had previously resided during periods of separation.

After making it out of the driveway, Joan believed that Bill was chasing her like he had done on previous occasions, so she kept driving. (R. 57, 70:19-71:3). As she drove through the very rural area surrounding her house, she could see headlights behind her and assumed it was Bill following her. Joan then turned onto Highway 83, drove by a police squad car, and drove past it. She thought to herself "I should stop," then realized "No, I'm not going to stop—I have called the police on two other

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 10 of 27

occasions when being physically abused. Bill lied about it, and I got arrested. They won't believe me, and then I will have to go home to this guy." (R. 57, 72:19-73:6). She continued driving, still in a panic, only to be pulled over moments later by the squad car she passed. She reported being abused by Bill when she made contact with the officer. Instead of the officers believing her, Joan was called a liar and a narcissist. (R. 57, 75:5-76:14).

Joan was ordered out of the car and put through filed sobriety tests and eventually arrested. She was taken to the hospital and subjected to an evidentiary blood draw, then left to wait for hours sitting on the floor. Joan was in severe pain and felt like she was going to pass out. At one point, Joan was in such pain that she couldn't get herself up off the floor. Only then – hours after informing officers that she had been physically abused and shoved down the stairs – did Joan receive any medical treatment for her injuries. The injuries were severe enough that she needed months of physical therapy for her neck and hip. (R. 57, 77:17-79:19).

Bill's violence towards Joan on May 24, 2017 was, unfortunately, not an isolated incident. The physical abuse started gradually but escalated in January 2015 when Joan realized that Bill had multiple affairs in previous years — one with a coworker and one with the nanny. Joan confronted Bill about the affairs and he became "aggressively violent." He started swinging at her, pushed her into the fireplace, and when she got up he threw her back down on the fireplace hearth onto her left hip. After this assault, Bill stormed out of the house and left in his truck. He did not return that night. (R. 57, 22:2-24:25). Following this incident, Joan had ongoing hip problems and required six weeks of physical

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 11 of 27

therapy. (R. 57, 34:16-35:5).

Several months later, in March 2015, Bill did not come home and Joan suspected that he was at the lake house with the nanny, so she went out to the lake house to discuss whether he had any interest in staying in the marriage. In response, he became extremely violent and threw her down four times, causing her to hit her head. He then got in his truck and drove erratically away from the lake house. (R. 57, 28:2-17).

Following that incident, in July 2015, Joan and Bill went out to dinner as part of their efforts to reconcile. Joan brought up the affairs and the need to discuss them if they were serious about reconciliation, and Bill began yelling and cursing at her at the restaurant while the other patrons sat and stared. Joan picked up her purse and left the restaurant and started walking home, since they drove to the restaurant together. Bill began following her with his car and yelling at her to "get in the fucking car," upset that she had created a disturbance at the restaurant. Joan walked the entire 3.5 miles home. Bill followed her yelling and harassing her nearly the entire way, until a neighbor yelled at him for driving partly onto his lawn. (R. 57, 29:8-31:12).

In August 2015, still trying to reconcile, Bill and Joan went out to the Potawatomi casino for dinner. Joan did not drink at that dinner while Bill drank quite a bit. After returning home, Joan mentioned that they had a nice evening and Bill responded "Yeah, you didn't fucking start a fight with me." Joan responded by saying that she didn't appreciate being treated that way, and Bill shoved her into a cupboard. She tried to stand to him and told him not to do that again, to which he responded "Why the hell not?" and shoved her again into an open cupboard door scratching her face. Bill left, slammed the door, and took off in his car

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 12 of 27

across the road, into the ditch, and then back onto the road.

In July 2016, Joan lived at the lake house for several months due to the constant fighting with Bill. On one occasion, she stopped over at the house to pick up some clothes for work. Bill was outside mowing the lawn and asked her "Why the fuck are you here? Get out of here." He proceeded to shove her in the shoulder. She went inside the house and gathered her things and came back outside, where Bill shoved her again. She turned away from him to take her things to her car and Bill shoved her from behind, causing her to faceplant on the driveway. (R. 57, 36:3-37:1).

Several months later, after Joan moved back into the main house and after a marriage therapy session, Joan was sitting on the couch a foot or so from Bill watching television. Bill became upset that Joan was not looking at him while he was talking and reached over, grabbed her chin with one hand and the back of her neck with another, and forcibly spun her neck so that she was directly looking at him, twisting it approximately 90 degrees. Joan required physical therapy multiple times per week for nearly two months following this incident. (R. 57, 41:19-24).

At her trial before the court, Joan presented the testimony of Dr. Darald Hanusa, a psychotherapist at the Midwest Domestic Violence Resource and a lecture emeritus at the University of Wisconsin, having taught the only course in family violence for more than 35 years at the college level. Dr. Hanusa's testimony was presented in two parts. The first part consisted of a thorough presentation on domestic violence and battered woman syndrome, with an emphasis on the ways in which a person who has been subject to domestic violence would respond

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 13 of 27

differently than the stereotypical reasonable person. (R. 125, 90:19-91:6).

According to Dr. Hanusa, "[t]he question for victims of domestic violence isn't how a reasonable person reacts in this situation. The question is given trauma that the victim of domestic violence has received, how would a reasonable violence survivor respond. That's the important question." (R. 125, 91:1-6). He testified that isolation is often self-imposed by survivors to avoid embarrassment, disbelief, or guilt: "If you're in a community where people know you, if you have a high profile job, you're not going to go to the emergency room if you're injured. You're not going to talk to friends or co-workers because it's too embarrassing. So, you don't talk to anybody." (R. 125, 93:13-19). Where law enforcement intervention hasn't resulted in the abuser being held accountable, it can embolden the abuser and lead to an increase in severity, or passiveaggressiveness, or even sneakier forms of abuse: "That's our worst nightmare. Even in treatment – men have gone through treatment and not really gotten it. We hear from survivors after the fact that he's worse now than he ever was. That's our worst nightmare." (R. 125, 111:5-22).

The second part of Dr. Hanusa's testimony was based on the report he prepared specifically for the case, which was based on a review of all of the discovery, six hours of interviews with Joan including several actuarial and clinical assessments, and an interview with Bill. (R. 114). For example, on the Danger Assessment, an empirically tested and validated assessment to determine the risk of domestic violence homicide, Joan scored a 14, placing her in the "severe danger" range (*Id.* at 9). Joan was diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Battered Woman Syndrome. Ultimately, Dr. Hanusa opined that "based on the data presented in this case, it is reasonable to conclude that Joan's

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 14 of 27

decision to operate a vehicle having consumed alcohol was impacted by her fear of continued abuse by her intimate partner." (*Id.* at 20).

Bill testified next. In describing the incident on May 24, 2017, he said "I'd never been so angry in my life." (R. 125, 205:2). He described yelling and screaming at Joan to get his clothes, pushing and shoving her, Joan falling down the stairs, and ultimately grabbing a heavy metal cooking pot and chasing Joan outside into the garage, where he threw it towards her and then chased her around the truck as she tried to get inside it. (R. 125, 198:19-205:17). Once she got in the truck, Bill began banging on the windows and yelling at her to "get the fuck out of here," and didn't stop banging on the windows until she started pulling forward in the truck and was halfway down the driveway. (R. 125, 204:20-205:17). Bill estimated that he had been violent towards Joan around 15 times over the course of their relationship, verbally abusive hundreds of times, psychologically abusive, used gaslighting, and had lied to the police about what happened on May 24, 2017 to try to convince the police that nothing happened. (R. 125, 206:19-209:3).

## II. Procedural History.

On May 31, 2017, the State charged Joan with OWI 2nd Offense and disorderly conduct – domestic abuse. (R. 2). On June 22, 2017, the State filed an amended criminal complaint adding Count 3, Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration, noting Joan's BAC was 0.113. (R. 13). At a status hearing on November 29, 2018, the State moved to dismiss the disorderly conduct – domestic abuse charge.

Joan's case was heavily litigated prior to trial. Relevant to this appeal, the trial court granted her motion to admit "other acts" evidence as to Bill's conduct (R. 70), and the parties' waiver of the right to trial by jury.

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 15 of 27

(R. 125, 4:17-19). The bench trial commenced on February 11, 2022, and a second day of trial followed several months later due to delays caused by COVID on September 9, 2022.

At the conclusion of the trial, the Court gave an oral decision. The Court, based on the stipulation of the parties, found that Joan drove with a blood alcohol concentration of 0.113, leaving the only question before the court whether the coercion defense applied. The Court did "not find that the defense applies because of the timing issue." (R. 57, 170:11-12). The Court stated "I can take everything as true up to the time that Dr. Stetzer leaves the driveway. Everything that was testified to by her, by the other witnesses can be exactly true. I can take that in the light most favorable to her all the way to that point, and it is awful that she's had to go through that and found herself in that position that night. The crux of this is the defense only goes so far. It only allows that it is the only means of preventing great bodily harm to her." (R. 57, 170:12-21). "Once she leaves the driveway, and I understand that she testified that she thought the lights were still behind her, she didn't drive to a police station, she didn't drive to a public area, and this is where I consider what would a reasonable person of ordinary intelligence and prudence do. Even accepting that we're accepting all the circumstances that were going on at that point that putting ourselves in her position that definitely she had to get out of there, that there was a fear of great bodily harm or death, even granting all of that, once she's out of the driveway she has more options. The driving to the lake home is not the only means of preventing harm." (R. 57, 170:22-171:9).

The court further stated "Of much importance in my consideration, the law doesn't ask me to determine if her actions were reasonable. I Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 16 of 27

could find that she was acting reasonably in trying to go to that lake. The law requires that this is the only means of prevention. It may have been reasonable for her to think well this is a safe thing for me to do because this has worked in the past, and that's where this becomes difficult on me as a person, but I can't rule just upon my own personal beliefs." (R. 57, 171:24-172:8). The Court then explained its understanding of the statutory defense of coercion: "The law carves out defenses. In this case it's a very specific defense, and it only provides for a violation of the law when it was the only means of preventing that great bodily harm. Since her actions once she's out of that driveway and driving was not the only means of preventing great bodily harm, I find that the defense is beyond a reasonable doubt not available." (R. 57, 172:11-18). "As part of my reasoning, there has to be an end point to the defense. It's not – it would not be at all and I – Public policy was discussed a little bit in some of those other cases on appeal. Public policy wouldn't support that a person could keep on driving indefinitely, that you could get in the car and say well I have to drive to – from Wisconsin to Tennessee because I need to be so far away from the situation. So her actions were reasonable. I don't discount that. The law however provides that it has to be the only means of preventing great bodily harm or imminent death. I can't find that so that is the decision. As to Counts 1 and 3, I do find her guilty." (R. 57, 172:19-173:7).

Joan was sentenced on November 1, 2022, and that sentence was stayed pending resolution of her appeal.

The Court of Appeals, in an authored but unpublished decision, affirmed Joan's conviction, holding that the trial court had applied the correct legal framework and that Joan lost the coercion privilege when

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 17 of 27

she drove past the police cruiser without stopping to report her assault.

## **ARGUMENT**

A. This case presents an opportunity for this Court to develop and harmonize the law as it evolves to provide greater validation and protection to victims of intimate violence, and to ensure that victims of intimate violence are not trapped between the risk of violence and the risk of criminalization.

American women are most often killed by a husband or lover, or exhusband or ex-lover. Intimate partner homicide is the largest category of murders of women, accounting for approximately 30-40% of murders of women according to the official counts based on the Supplemental Homicide Reports<sup>2</sup> (SHR; National Institute of Justice, 2000). Since the SHR misclassifies as many as 13% of intimate partner homicides of women as non-intimate partner, this percentage is undoubtedly an underestimate. In contrast to homicides of women, homicides by intimate partners account for a relatively small proportion of murders of men in the US, approximately 5-8%. This is a uniquely feminist issue, and women bear the risk of laws that fail to evolve in response. Abuse is most often a precursor of intimate partner homicides in cishet relationships, whether the victim is the male or female partner. The majority (67-75%) of intimate partner homicides involve battering of the female by the male intimate, no matter which partner is killed. <sup>3</sup>

Over the last several decades, our law has evolved away from an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mercy, J.A., & Saltzman, L.E. (1989). Fatal violence among spouses in the United States 1976-85. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 79, 595-599; Bailey, J.E. et. al. (1997). Risk factors for violent death of women in the home. <u>Archives of Internal Medicine</u>, 157, 777-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> National Institute of Justice (1997). A Study of Homicide in eight US Cities: An NIJ intramural research project. Washington, D.C.: USDOJ.

<sup>3</sup> Roehl, Janice, et al. (2005). Intimate Partner Violence Risk Assessment Validation Study, Final Report. NCJRS.

Case 2023AP000874 Petition for Review Filed 04-23-2024 Page 18 of 27

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