Filed 11-12-2024

#### FILED 11-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2023AP874-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOAN L. STETZER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

#### **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN D. FLYNN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1096413

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7324 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) flynnjd@doj.state.wi.us

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

## ARGUMENT

## This Court should deny the petition.

Stetzer presents three issues for review. First, whether a trial court can divide an act and determine whether it was privileged at different points in time. (Pet. 4.)<sup>2</sup> If a trial court can, then Stetzer questions whether doing so violates Marsy's Law. (Pet. 4.) Finally, Stetzer claims that the trial court failed to consider her unique experiences and perspective in determining whether her belief that she faced death or great bodily harm remained reasonable. (Pet. 4.)

Stetzer argues that review "will help develop and harmonize the law surrounding the treatment of victims of intimate violence who must violate the law to escape death or great bodily harm, and the extent to which courts should dissect the actions and alternatives available to the victim in a hyper-technical manner." (Pet. 5.) She also argues that the court of appeals' decision "is at odds with recent significant development in the treatment of victims by our criminal justice system." (Pet. 5.) Neither are correct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State uses the pagination assigned by e-filing, rather than Stetzer's.

A. There is no need to review the circuit court's consideration of whether Stetzer's belief remained reasonable; that is obviously how the law works.

Under Wis. Stat. § 939.45(1), criminal conduct is privileged when it "occurs under circumstances of coercion" as set forth in Wis. Stat. § 939.46. "Coercion" occurs when a "threat by a person other than the actor's coconspirator . . . causes the actor reasonably to believe that his or her act is the only means of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm to the actor or another and which causes him or her so to act." Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1).<sup>3</sup>

"The coercion defense is limited to the 'most severe form of inducement." State v. Keeran, 2004 WI App 4, ¶ 5, 268 Wis. 2d 761, 674 N.W.2d 570 (quoting State v. Amundson, 69 Wis. 2d 554, 568, 230 N.W.2d 775 (1975)). The defense of coercion "reflect[s] the social policy that one is justified in violating the letter of the [criminal] law in order to avoid death or great bodily harm." State v. Horn, 126 Wis. 2d 447, 455, 377 N.W.2d 176 (Ct. App. 1985); see also State v. Brown, 107 Wis. 2d 44, 54-55, 318 N.W.2d 370 (1982).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Wisconsin Stat. § 939.46 defines the affirmative defense of coercion as follows:

**<sup>939.46</sup> Coercion. (1)** A threat by a person other than the actor's coconspirator which causes the actor reasonably to believe that his or her act is the only means of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm to the actor or another and which causes him or her so to act is a defense to a prosecution for any crime based on that act, except that if the prosecution is for first-degree intentional homicide, the degree of the crime is reduced to 2nd-degree intentional homicide.

"A defendant seeking a coercion defense instruction must meet the initial burden of producing evidence to support such an instruction." *Keeran*, 268 Wis. 2d 761,  $\P$  6.

Considering the evolving circumstances and whether a basis for a coercion privilege exists is consistent with prior decisions on statutory privileges. For instance, there is a narrow privilege for a felon to possess a firearm, but one of the requirements is that "the defendant did not possess the firearm for any longer than reasonably necessary." *State v. Coleman*, 206 Wis. 2d 199, 211, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996). When a defendant's belief that breaking the law is the only way to avoid imminent death or bodily harm becomes unreasonable, then their privilege to violate the law ends.

Stetzer complains that the trial court's finding that her belief she faced death or great bodily harm became unreasonable once she passed the police cruiser failed to account for the times she was arrested and charged with domestic violence crimes. (Pet. 20.) She does not cite to the record to support this claim. She essentially argues that the entirety of her driving with a PAC should be treated as "a single offense." (Pet. 20.) This is an absurd claim. If the entirety of her driving with a PAC was one act, how far could she drive and remain privileged? To another county? To another state? Across the country? Stetzer's construction has no limiting principle and therefore does not merit serious consideration by this Court.

Stetzer also complains that what the trial court did limits coercion as a defense to "the most limited of cases." (Pet. 20.) Correct. As a matter of law, it is only available when acting under "the 'most severe form of inducement." *Keeran*, 268 Wis. 2d 761, ¶ 5 (citation omitted).

The only reasonable way to interpret the privilege of coercion must take into account the evolving facts of the case. Merely because an act starts as privileged does not mean it remains privileged until a defendant decides the risk has abated—the belief that a defendant faces death or great bodily harm must remain reasonable in order for illegal conduct to remain privileged.

B. Stetzer did not bring a challenge based on Marsy's Law below, so this Court should not accept review; in any event, Marsy's Law cannot mean that victims of domestic violence can freely commit crimes as long as their belief they needed to do so was at one point reasonable.

"It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court." State v. *Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. The forfeiture rule gives parties incentive to "apprise circuit courts of specific arguments in a timely fashion so that judicial resources are used efficiently and the process is fair to the opposing party." Townsend v. Massey, 2011 WI App 160, ¶ 26, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155. "Raising a general issue does not preserve all arguments that might somehow relate to that issue." Lewis v. Village of Hobart, 2014 WI App 90, ¶ 16, 356 Wis. 2d 328, 855 N.W.2d 492. "Instead, the forfeiture rule focuses on whether particular arguments have been preserved." Id. "Framing the rule in this way prevents circuit courts from being 'blindsided' by appellate courts and gives circuit courts the ability to 'correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." Id. (quoting Townsend, 338 Wis 2d 114, ¶ 26). Accordingly, the forfeiture rule "is not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice." Huebner, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶11. A party seeking to raise a claim on appeal therefore has the burden to show that the party first raised the claim in the circuit court. Id. ¶10.

Stetzer did not raise a constitutional challenge before the circuit court or the court of appeals. (Stetzer's Br. 18–22.) Arguments raised for the first time on appeal are forfeited. *Townsend*, 338 Wis. 2d 114, ¶¶ 19, 25. This should not be excused, especially considering the special requirement of notifying the Legislature when a statute's constitutionality is challenged. Wis. Stat. § 806.04(11).

Nonetheless, nothing in Marsy's Law expands the coercion privilege for victims of domestic abuse. *See* Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(2). Stetzer's argument in this regard lacks citations to any authority and is therefore undeveloped.

Further, Stetzer's coercion claim comes from Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1) and not from Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m). Under the latter statute, a defendant has a privilege that covers any offense committed as a direct result of human trafficking. *State v. Kizer*, 2022 WI 58, ¶ 30, 403 Wis. 2d 142, 976 N.W.2d 356. The broader privilege based on coercion envisioned under (1m) shows a legislative policy choice. Stetzer's argument must fail because it is up to the legislature, not this Court, to expand any privilege based on coercion. *See Id.* ¶ 41.

Stetzer notes that no charges have been filed against her husband and complains that she has not been treated with fairness, dignity, and respect. (Pet. 23.) Similarly, she alleges that her rights were not protected like an accused. (Pet. 23.) These are red herrings. Any charging decision is within the discretion of the district attorney. *State v. Dums*, 149 Wis. 2d 314, 321, 440 N.W.2d 814 (Ct. App. 1989). And without a criminal proceeding where Stetzer is the victim, there is no forum for her rights to be protected in the manner she wants. If she feels that her rights as a victim have been violated, there is a statutory mechanism for her to make a complaint. Wis. Stat. § 950.09(2). But, put simply, nothing about Marsy's Law or victim's rights expands coercion as a privilege. There is nothing of substance in this issue for this Court to review.

# C. The trial court properly considered the reasonableness of Stetzer's beliefs, and she seeks only error correction.

Stetzer complains that the trial court did not consider the reasonableness of her actions based on her "personal characteristics and histor[y]." (Pet. 20.) In particular, she claims that she deliberately chose not to stop at the police cruiser and report her husband's alleged abuse "because it was not certain that stopping and reporting her assault to the police would have resulted in her safety." (Pet. 20.) In part "because the last times that she had reported that she was being physically abused, her husband lied to the police and Joan herself was arrested and charged." (Pet. 19–20.)

Stetzer cites only to *State v. Johnson*, 2021 WI 61, ¶ 24, 397 Wis. 2d 633, 961 N.W.2d 18, for the proposition that the circuit court had to consider her unique characteristics and history. (Pet. 20.) She reads too much into this citation. This part of Johnson refers to the evidence that a defendant must adduce in order to be entitled to a self-defense instruction: "he must present some evidence that he reasonable believed this force was necessary to prevent great bodily harm or imminent death to himself." Johnson, 397 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 24. To that end, personal characteristics and history are relevant. Id. This citation, however, by no means makes personal history and characteristics determinative. A defendant's belief must still be reasonable. Id.  $\P$  20. Further, this section only speaks to whether a defendant would be entitled to the instruction, but in a court trial, the circuit court "is presumed to know the law." Tri-State Mech., Inc. v. Northland Coll., 2004 WI App 100, ¶ 10, 273 Wis. 2d 471, 681 N.W.2d 302. See also, Bell v. Cone, 543 U.S. 447, 456 (2005) (citation omitted) (recognizing 'the presumption that state courts 'know and follow the law"); Woodford v. Visciotti, 537 U.S. 19, 24 (2002) (there is a "presumption that state courts know and follow the law");

The trial court did assess whether Stetzer reasonably believed that driving with a PAC was necessary to avoid death or great bodily harm. It found Stetzer's belief reasonable when Stetzer started driving, but that belief became unreasonable when Stetzer passed a police officer because at that point continuing to drive was not her only—or most reasonable—option. To that end, Stetzer merely disagrees; she seeks only error correction. This Court is "not, primarily, an error-correcting tribunal, and [it] normally hear[s] only those cases that present something more than just an error of law." *State ex rel. DNR v. Wis. Ct. of Appeals, Dist. IV*, 2018 WI 25, ¶ 43, 380 Wis. 2d 354, 909 N.W.2d 114.

# CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Stetzer's petition for review.